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FinanciaL HIGHLIGHTS

Alexander o Alexander Services Inc.

(ins wisllionss, excepe per share apiounts) 1938 1987
Operaring revenues $1,227.7 $1,183.3
Operating income 122.2 113.6
Income from continuing operarions 71.0 74.9
Net income 67.5 68.4
Per share of common stock:

Income from continuing operations § 1.71 s 1.77

Net income 1.63 1.62

Cash dividends 1.00 1.00
Total assets $2,635.2 $2,661.8
Cash provided by operations 65.4 95.2
Stockhalders’ equity 371.6 389.4
Book value per share 9.20 9.27
Return on equity 17.7% 19.2%
Average shares outstanding 41.4 42.3
Number of employees (thousands) 16.3 17.0

ALEXANDER & ALEXANDER SERVICES INC. 1s the international insurance
brokerage, risk management and human resource management con-
sulting company serving the needs of clients in over 70 countries.

More than 16,000 A&A employees plan, place and service all types
of insurance and risk management programs on behalf of businesses
and other organizations as well as governmental entities and individ-
uals. We place reinsurance and provide risk analysis and self-insurance
SEIVices.

Our human resource management consulting operations provide
actuarial and administrative services for compensation and benefit
plans as well as employee communications and management consult-
Ing services.



To Our FeLLow SHAREHOLDERS

W orldwide opcrations
of Alexander & Alex-
ander Services Inc. produced
record revenues in 1988 of
51.23 billion and net income
of §67.5 million. Our operat-
ing income grew more than
7.5% as margins improved
throughout the year.

Insurance markets, like
cquity markets, are subject to
pricing volatility, Throughout
1988, commercial insurance
premiums were declining ar
double-digit rates as undet-
writers competed ficrecly for
market share.

In my lecter to vou a year
ago, [ noted that soft markets
bring short-term benefits to
many of our clients but create
long-term financial risks and
possible insolvencics among
underwriters. A&A manage-
ment has carried this message
to audiences worldwide as we
address our clients’ diverse
risk management interests.

A&A’s strategy for enhanc-
ing sharcholder value is
straightforward. During all
phases of the insurance cycle,
we focus on providing excep-
tional client service, improv-
i7g our operating margins,
and attracting the best avail-
able ralentt to execute our
strategy. We performed well
in 1988 against these
objectives,

Over a vear ago, we
announced our commitment

to concentrate on the Com-
pany’s core busincsses, A&A’s
divestiture of underwriting
umirts was followed in 1988 by
the sale of our insurance pre-
mium financing subsidiary,
TIFCO Inc.

In addition, we will sell or
phase out several small, non-
strategic operations during
1989. The estimated costs or
cxpenses have been charged in
1988 and should have no
impact on 1989 financial
results,

Our exposure to the cyclical
swings in the insurance mar-
kets is offser to some degree
by the success of our global
human resource management
operation, the Alexander
Consulting Group. Frequent
tax faw and legislative changes
relating to employee benefits
help fuel ACG’s growth.

AsA’s international strategy
was reflected in further
enhancement of our service
network in key geographical
regions. We have focused spe-
cial attention on North
Amecrica, Europe and the
Pacific Rim to respond to
growing business opportunities.

AgA benefited throughout
the year from increased
SYNCIEY among our insurance
broking, nsk management
and human resource manage-
ment consulting operations.

In all of these activities,
AgA people “‘think global

and act local”? Just as our
own service business has
become more complex, so
have the needs of our clients.
We are determined that each
client reccives the same com-
mitment to excellence from
the A&A team anvwhere in
the world. As shareholders,
we recognize superior client
service is the Key to outper-
forming the competition and
improving sharcholder value.

Client retention and new
business production during
1988 were solid, We contin-
ued to emphasize cost con-
tainment and expense
controls. As a result, we
expect improvement in our
operating margins when the
insurance market stabilizes.

At last vear’s Annual Meet-
ing, sharcholders voted to
change the composition of
the board of directors from 17
to 10 and to create a majority
of non-management or *‘out-
side”” directors.

Two new outside directors,
Dr. Robert E. Bomi and Peter
C. Godsoe, have joined the
board. After four vears of ser-
vice, W. Douglas H. Gardiner
retired in February 1989,

We made a number of
management changes during
1988 that will serve us well
in the 1990s. New respon-
sibilitics were assigned to
Michael K. White and
William M. Wilson, our ¢xee-




utive vice presidents and
directors.

Mr. White was named
chairman of A&A Inc., our
U.S. retail broking unit. In
November, his duties were
expanded to include Reed
Stenhouse operations in Can-
ada, Latin American retail
operations, and AsA’s world-
wide risk management ser-
vices. The Alexander Con-
sulting Group also reports to
him.

Mr. Wilson was named
chairman of Alexander &
Alexander Europe plc, with
responsibility for worldwide
reinsurance and wholesale
broking as well as retail brok-
ing operations in the United
Kingdom and Ireland,
Europe, Asta/Middle East,
Japan, Australia and New
Zealand.

These moves prepare A&A
to serve changing client needs
flowing from the elimination
of trade barriers by the Euro-
pean Community and other
regions. To further take
advantage of these opportuni-
ties, Ron W, Forrest was
named to the newly created
position of managing director,
Global Business Develop-
ment, for retail broking
operations.

Last summer, the board of
directors authorized the pur-
chase of up to two million
additional shares of A&A

common stock. This reflects
their belief that A&A shares
are undervalued based on
future earnings potential.

We are also pleased to note
A&A’s selection for Standard
& Poor’s 500-stock index,
additional recognition of
A&A’s stature in the business
community.

The Company continues to
have a sound balance sheet
and good credit ratings. This
provides flexibility and
enables us to manage A&A’s
growth in a financially pru-
dent manner.

The current year is our
90th. As we prepare to enter

the 1990s, I look forward to
reporting to you on the con-
tinuing success of our
company.

w;/.czﬁ . dmwu
T.H. IrviN

Chatrman
& Chief Executive Officer




A&A ProrLe anp CLIENTS

lexander & Alexander’s worldwide re-
sources typically support transactions
between an A&A professional and a client. Our
emplovees bring to each business relationship:
8 The tratning and skills to understand the cli-
ents’ business and their insurance, risk manage-
ment resource management
consulting needs.
O The highest level of professional counsel with
an emphasis on creative solutions.
O An ability to anticipate clients’ needs and

and human

Training seminars at Alexander Howden Lim-
ited, A&A’s U.K.-based wholesale broking sub-
sidiary, are regularly attended by London
underwriters. Client service capabilities also have
been strengthened among many of the Compa-
ny’s retatl brokers by Howden’s London
exchange program. This gives our brokers hands-
on experience in the London market.

Exccutives are increasingly cautious when
sclecting brokers and consultants. They scck out
experts who fully understand thejr organizations

respond from their point

of view.
J Effcctive communica-
tion.
During 1988, thou- :
sands of A&A cxccutives :
\
\
|

|
|
|
‘
\
\
|
|

and support staff com-
pleted professional devel-
opment programs,

The Alexander Con-
sulting Group’s Achiev- |
ing Professional Exccl- j
lence (APEX) program ;
enhanced the client- |
service capabilities of |
ncarly 150 consultants |
and brokers. ‘

Other ACG programs i
offer specialized training }

A RECORD NUMBER OF ARA PROVESSIONALS
COMPLETED TRAINING PROGRAMS IN 1988
OUR FLEXIBLE, HIGHLY SKILLED EMPLOYEES
PROVIDE QUALITY SERVICE TG
OURCLIENTS AROUND THE WORILD, BECAUSE
OF THE TALENT BASE OF A&A PEOPLE, WE CAN
MEST CLIENTS' NEEDS EVEN IN A VOLATILE

INSURANCE MARKET™

MICHAEL K. WHITE

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

- as well as their nisk expo-
| sures and human resource
| management needs.

| While mastering the
| details of individual spe-
| cialtes, our professionals
| know where to turn
| when clients need addi-
| tional support. A&A
' business units coordinate
| worldwide cxpertise and
| resources to match indi-
I vidual client needs.

! The Company’s empha-
| sis on quality service also
| encompasses technical
} resources. Expanded com-
| puterization and other
| technical enhancements
‘

to our employces. This
cnables them to berter assist clients facing com-
plex human resource management issucs such as
new discrimination rules for health and other
welfare benefit plans.

Alexander & Alexander Inc. expanded its
regional training system to further strengthen
the professional skills of U.S. brokers, account
executives and support staff.

continue to speed claims
and service and to minimize paperwork.

Recruitment, development and retention of
skillful, committed employees are among A&A’s
principal objectives. Despite difficult market
conditions, the Company continucs to meet its
long-term commitment to nurture our people
and to provide them with appropriate resources
for obtaining and serving clients worldwide.







A& A Resources

coordinated network of services extends
from A&A’s more than 16,000 employces
in over 300 ofhices worldwide.

Through our account executives and other
professtonals, clients have access to diverse insur-
ance and reinsurance brokerage and risk manage-
ment services, including innovative alternatives
to traditional coverage.

Our sophisticated human resource manage-
ment services are also available through local
offices worldwide.

health care, energy, utilitics and construction as
well as U.S.-Japancse investment business and
other internarional activity. As resources for local
offices, they provide relevant technical service for
specialized needs.

The breadth of our services also enables us to
perform as risk management consultants when
our clicnts’ interests are not fully covered by tra-
ditional 1nsurance.

A&A has continued its tradition of developing
alternative funding mechanisms ro meet specific

This global network has
grown steadily since we
became a publicly held
company in 1969,
Twenty vears ago, more
than 95% of our business
was ccntered in the
United Srates. In 1988,
non-U.5. operations pro-
duced about onc-third of
the Company’s operating
revenues. We expect this
pattern to accelerate.

Ag&A’s eams of profes-
sionals support local offices
with spedalized expertise. In
North Amenca, this is
reflected in our national
markering groups. For

““WITH OURINTERNATIONAL NETWORK [N
PLACE, A&A HAS UNPARALLELED
CAPABILITIES FOR SERVING CLIENTS FROM
COUNTRY TO COUNTRY. THE ADVANTAGES OF
A WORLDWIDE TEAM APPROACH ARE
BECOMING INCREASINGLY IMPORTANT 1O QOUR
CLIENTS. [N THE 1990s, FEW COMTANIES,
LARGE ORSMALL, WILL ESCAPE THE CHANGES
THAT ARE SWEEPING THE GLORAL BUSINESS

ENVIRONMENT"

WILLIAM M. WILSON

EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

business and professional
needs. Among the prod-
ucts launched in 1988
was EPIC, a risk reren-
tion group for environ-
mental impatrment
insurance. We also estab-
lished alternative funding
mechanisms for physi-
cians and other medical
professionals.

Various legal and public
policy developments keep
the insurance industry in
a state of turmoil.

In the United Srares,
we track public policy
developments through
various research cfforts

example, the Financial
Products Group is recognized for their expenence
with directors and officers liability, fidelity bonds,
computer crime and other financial products.

They assist AgA offices in designing and mar-
keting accounts to underwriters as well as keep-
ing our cxecutives up to date on industry trends
and practices in the financial services field.

Our marketing groups also focus on aviation,

thar include our Govern-
ment & Industry Affairs Office in Washington,
D.C. GIA’s annual risk management suryey and
related acrtivities offer added valuc to clients
whose financial exposures arc affecred by various
federal faws and regulations.

Around the globe, A&A has few rivals in its
ability to help businesses understand and manage
their exposures to risk.







AsgA Vision AND Mission

or 90 years, Alexander & Alexander Services
Inc. has provided creative, professional ser-
vice to clients.

Since our founding in 1899, the company
launched by Charles and William Alexander has
grown from a small West Virginia insurance firm
into one of the world’s leading insurance broker-
age, risk management and human resource man-
agement consulting organizations.

Leadership and prospenty in the future will
be earned by companies that combine world-

In Europe, where some companies are just
beginning to prepare for 1992, we have a mature
network in place. We own or control broking,
risk management and human resource manage-
ment consulting operations in the United King-
dom and Ireland, the Netherlands, France, Italy,
Belgium, Sweden, Spain, Portugal and Switzer-
land. We also have substantial equity in a West
German insurance broker,

These relationships enable us to provide con-
sistent, integrated quality service. It gives our

wide expertise with spe- |
cific local know-how, Itis |
what we mean when we |
say, ‘““Think global, act ‘
local ?

Two important free
trade developments re- ‘
ceived international head- |
lines in 1988. “

The United States and |
Canada signed a landmark |
free trade agreement.

SHARFHOLLDERS. OUR MISSION IS TO SOIVE

S ASA'S MISSION TIES DIRECTLY INFO THE

INTERESTS OF CLIENTS, EMPLOYEFS AND

CLIENT PROBLEMS BY PROVIDING INNOVATIVE
SERVICE THROUGH HIGHLY MOTIVATED,
EXPERT EMPLOYEES. BY ACHIEVING THIS, WE
WILL OFFER A SECURE AND GROAYING

i FINANCIAL RETURN TO SHAREHOLDERS AND

= people ‘“‘global pass-
ports’’ to Cross interna-
tional boundaries to
develop the best insur-
ance programs for clients.

Ownecrship also helps us
better understand cco-
nomic conditions and
insurance practices. We
can collect reliable local
information and put it to
use in the most complex,

Meanwhile, the European EMPT.OYEES.” centrally controlled mas-
Community contintues to ter program.
move toward economic T TRVIN Flexibility is our key to

integration and frec wade
in the 1990s.

For all the talk of ““EC
1992 and the Canadian-

CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

growth. The 1990s will
be a period of major
change in traditional in-
surance markets, There

U.S. agreement, the ulti-
mate business consequences cannot be predicted
with certainty. A&A has created a flexible sales
and service strategy that will position us to work
effectively whatever the prevailing business
conditions.

This is illustrated by the fact that, outside of
their home country, our major competitors rely
primarily on correspondents to represent their
clients, In contrast, A%&A owns controlling inter-
est in most of our major affiliated operations.

will be difficult regulatory
and legal challenges as well as a continuing
expansion in client consulting nceds.

In this environment, we¢ are committed to
offering professional, innovative services while
providing a good financial return for our share-
holders. A&A has the people and resources to
achieve this in the midst of challenging global
business conditions,
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Core SERVICES OF A&A ServICES INc.

THE CLIENTS OF ALEXANDER &
ALEXANDER DEPEND ON OUR DIVERSITY
AND DEPTH OF SERVICES IN INSURANCE
BROKERAGE, RISK MANAGEMENT AND
HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
CONSUILTING. THEY RELY ON THE
PROVEN CAPABILITIES AND SERVICE
NETWORK THAT SUPPORT OUR
RECOMMENDATIONS.

IN COMMERCIAL CENTERS
THROUGHOUT THE WORLD, WE
CUSTOMIZE AND DELIVER PROMPT,
COST-EFFECTIVE SERVICES. IN MANY
COUNTRIES, A&A IS THE FOREMOST
BROKER AND CONSULTANT WITH
OPERATIONS THAT GREW OUT OF
INDIGENOUS BUSINESSES.
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REeTaiL Broxing

As a leading international
retail broker, we arrange risk
management and insurance
programs for businesses and
other organizations as well as
governmental entities and
individuals.

Internationally, client ser-
vice is provided through an
insurance broking network
coordinated by A&A’s Global
Retail Board. Specialized
regional marketing groups
support the expertise and
service available through local
offices in more than 70
countries,

We have a particularly
strong position in the United
States, United Kingdom and
Furope, Canada, Australia
and New Zealand.

A&A’s poimary retail broker-
age companics include Alex-
ander & Alexander Inc., Reed
Stenhousc and Alexander
Stenhouse.

WHOLESALE BROKING

For specialry lines and com-
plex, hard-to-place risks, we
offer an essential link be-
tween retail brokers and
undcrwriters.

Alexander Howden Lim-
ited operates in London at
the center of the wholesale
nsurance business. Howden
experts in various disciplines

handle all general lines of
insurance as well as unusual
coverage that requires access
to Lloyd’s, London compan-
ies or other markets.

Alexander Howden North
America specializes in ¢xcess/
surplus and specialty lines
placements. AHNA places
large and medium-sized com-
mercial accounts from retail
agents and brokers through-
out North America.

Remsurance BROKING

Reinsurance broking has
become increasingly promi-
nent as our brokers place rein-
surance on behalf of insurance
and reinsurance companics
worldwide.

Alexander Howden Rein-
surance Brokers Limited,
based in London, operatcs in
all major reinsurance markets.
It acts as a broker to insurance
and rcinsurance companies
and Lloyd’s syndicates
through a network of divi-
sions and subsidiaries.

Thomas A. Greene & Com-
pany Inc., based in New
York, pnimanly handles prop-
erty, casualty and marine
treaty reinsurance of U.S.
insurance companies.

Risk MANAGEMENT

Ag&A’s risk management con-
sulting services help clients

analyze and control their risk
cxposure. When appropriate,
we help companices develop
alternatives to traditional
insurance programs through
self-insurance, captives, risk
retention groups and other
alternative funding vehicles.

Anistics is a leading financial
and information systems con-
sulting company. They pio-
neered development of loss
forecasting, financial models,
statistical analysis and rclated
consulting services.

Alexsis offers risk analysis
services as well as claims
administration and claims
information rcporting.

Alexander Insurance Man-
agers Limited manages client
captive insurarnce companies
worldwidc.

Alexander Trade Services
provides intermediary services
in political risk/export credit
risk insurance and trade
finance packages.

Humax ResoURCE
ManaceMENT CONSULTING

The Alexander Consulting
Group is an innovator in
health care strategies and
other areas of human resource
management.

They offer actuarial and
administrative services for
compensation and benefit
plans as well as cmployee
communications.

11




Fixnanciar CONTENTS

SELECTED FINANCIAL IDATA

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION & RESULIS OF OPERATTONS

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

AUDITORS REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SIOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14

18

20

21

22

23

24



SeLecTeD FinanciaL Data @)

Alexander & Alexander Services fue.

(inr mitlioous, excapt pex sy mmonnts) 1988 1987 1986 1985 J 2&&
Summary of operations
Operating revenues $1,227.7 51,183.3 $1,1346 $§ 9768 § 859.1
Operating income 122.2 113.6 163 .4 123.2 78.0
Income from continuing operations 71.0 749 66.6 44.7 28.3
Loss from discontinued operations 6.0) (10.0y (24.0) (52.0) (77.1)
Extraordinary credits 2.5 3.5 0.6 — 1.6
Net income {Joss) 67.5 68.4 43.2 (7.3) (47.2}
Per share of common stock:
Income from conninuing operanions $ 1.71 § 177 § 162 § 117 § 78
Loss from discontinucd operations (.14) (.24} (.58) (1.36) {2.12)
Extraordinary credits .06 .09 01 — 04
Net tncome {Joss) $§ 163 S 162 S 105 S (19 § (1.30
Cash dividends $ 100 3 100 § 100 § 100 S 1.00
Weighted average number of shares 41.4 42.3 41.2 38.2 36.3
Financial position
Current asscts $1,918.4 §1,962.1 51,8997 S81,685.0 S1,361.4
Working capital 147.3 99.3 86.0 87.1 52.7
Total assets 2,635.2 26618 24816 2,183.0 1,895.6
Long-term debr 214.6 170.2 118.2 146.3 176.5
Stockholders” equity 371.6 389.4 324 .4 284.0 263.6

{a3 In 1988, the Company has restated prior years” amounts under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Xo. 94,
“Consolidation of All Majonte-Owned Subsidiartes” and has made certain rechssifications to conform with the current years” presenta-
tion. These changes ad no efteer 1o previously reported consolidated net income or stckholders’ equy.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS OF
FinanciaL ConbrTion & Resurrs oF OPERATIONS

General

The insurance brokerage industry’s operating
results are directly aftected by the cyclical pattern of
premium rates charged by the property and casualty
insurance companies. The intensely competinve
pricing environment, which began in late 1986, 15
expected to continue through 1989, Analysts and
industry officials have indicated that premium rates
declined 30% in 1987 and again at double-digat
rates in 1988. Rate cutting is expected to continue
throughout 1989, thus lowerning commissions for
the insurance brokers.

Commission revenue growth in this environment
is largely a function of new business production,
retention of cxisting business, new product devel-
opment, foreign exchange rates and acquisitions.
Operating income growth is dependent, for the
most part, on prudent expense control,

Net income for 1988 was 567.5 mithen or $1.63
per share, including a $6.0 million charge for the
Company’s discontinued operations and an
extraordinary credit of $2.5 million from the utili-
zation of net operating loss carryforwards. This
compares to net income of $68.4 million or $1.62
per share in 1987, which included a loss from dis-
continued operations of $10.0 million and an
extraordinary credit of $3.5 million. The Compa-
ny’s consolidated operating revenutes increased by
$44.4 million to a record $1.2 billion in 1988.
Income from continuing operations was $71.0 mil-
lion in 1988 and included an after-tax gain of $18.2
million from the sale of TIFCO Inc. (TTFCO), the
Company’s premium financing subsidiary. The gain
was offser, in part, by $12.1 million in provisions
tor costs relating to adverse development for
indemnities given on the sale of Shand, Morahan &
Company, Inc. (Shand) as well as estimated losses
on the pending sales of nvo small operations.
Income from continuing operations was $74.9 mil-
lion sn 1987 and included after-rax gains of $19.9
million on the sales of real estate and other opera-
tions. Excluding non-recurning gains and losscs,
income from continuing operations would have
increased by approximately 25% in 1988,

14

The Company’s consolidated financial statements
have been restated for all prior years presented to
reflect the provisions of Statement of Financial
Standards (SFAS) No. 94, “‘Consolidation of all
Majority-Owned Subsidianies,” and No. 95,
*Statement of Cash Flows.”” In addition, fiduciary
investment income and amortization of intangible
assets have been reclassified as components of oper-
ating revenue and operating expenscs, respectively.
These changes had no cffect on previously reported
net income or stockholders’ equity.

Results of Operations
Revenues

Consolidated operating revenucs increased by 3.8%
in 1988 and 4.3% in 1987; however, excluding the
impact from higher foreign exchange rates and the
net effect from acquisitions and sold operations,
revenues were up by approximately 1% and 2%,
respectively.

Insurance services revenucs, which includes retail,
wholesate, reinsurance, and nsk management com-
missions and fees, as well as investment income on
fiduciary funds, comprise approximatcly 87% ot
rotal revenues. Worldwide insurance services com-
nussions and fees were up 2.5% and 3.4% in 1988
and 1987, respectively, as strong new business pro-
duction, higher forcign exchange rates and acquusi-
tions more than offset reduced revenues from sold
operations. For both comparable periods, the
increase in operating revenues due to higher foreign
exchange rates was approximately 2.0%. Solid new
business production mitigated the ctfect from
reduced premium rates. Invesement income on
fiduciary funds incrcased by 2.8% in 1988 princi-
pally as the effect of reduced tnvestment levels was
more than offset by higher average short-term
mnterest rares. In 1987, fiduciary investment income
was flat primarily due to higher levels of funds avail-
able for investment offset by lower short-term
iInterest rates.



Worldwide human resource management cof1-
sulring revenucs of the Alexander Consulting,
Group increased by 16.0% and 14.9% in 1988 and
1987, respectively. Significant legislative and regula-
torv changes, as well as new and proposced account-
ing standards, have resulted i increased demand
for semvices i the areas of emplovee bencfies, com-
pensation and incentive programs.

Operating Expenses

Toral operanng cxpenses increased by 3.3% in 1988
compared to a 10.1% increase in 1987, After
adjusting for the eftects of higher foreign exchange
rates, total operating expenscs inereased by 0.9% in
1988 and 7.0% i 1987, Beginning in early 1987,
the Company intnated salary and expense controls
designed ro significantiv reduce the rate of expense
growth. As a result of the expense control program,
the overall rate of growth was reduced by approxi-
mately one-third in 1987 and two-thirds in 1988,

Salaries and related benefits were up 1.5% in
1988 compared toa 10.2% increase in 1987, Effec-
mve January 1, 1988, the Company adopted SFAS
No, 87 for s international pension plans, the
result of which was a reduction n pension ¢xpense
of approximately $12.6 million over the 1987
amount. Toral staft costs reflecr 4 4.1% and 5.6%
decline in number of emplovees in 1988 and 1987,
respectively, primarily duce to divestitures and cost
control measures.

Orther operating cxpenses increased by 6.5% n
1988 compared to 2 10.0% increase in 1987, The
1988 amount includes $7.3 million of costs associ-
ared with the fourth quarter deasion to phase out
the mainframe computet service operarions of
Anistics [nc., the Company’s U.S. nsk manage-
ment consulting unit. Occupancy and depreciation
costs were up 11.9% and 19.2% in 1988 and 1987,
respectively, primarily reflecting facilinies and svs-
rems costs connected with strategic expansion.

15

The Company’s insurance and self-insurance
costs decrcased by 3.8% 10 1988 compared toa
6.9% increase in 1987, While lower premiums and
mereased levels of selected coverage became availa-
ble in 1988, the trend over the last several vears has
been an merease in costs due to higher policy
dedueribles and reduced overall msurance coverage
available in the markets. The Company continues
its emphasis on quality control programs, particu-
larly as it relates to prevention of errors and ons-
stons claims.

Lguiry Eavsiings

As described in Note 4, the Company sold TTFCQO
in 1988 and Evanston Services Ine. in 1987, As
these subsidiarics have been sold, their results con-
tinue to be presented in the consolidared financial
statements as equity carnings through dates of sale.

Effective December 31, 1988, the Company
adopred SFAS No. 94. With the sale of TIFCO and
Evanston, the impact of SFAS No. 94 was not sig-
nificant to the consohdared financial statcments
and had no effect on previousty reported net
income or stockholders™ equiry.

Other Income and Expenses

Investment tcome increased by $3.5 mithen in
1988 primarily duc to higher interest rares and
nterest on the note recetvable in connecrion with
the sale of TIFCO. In 1987, wivestment income
dechned by $2.7 miilion resulnng principally from
lower interest rates.,

Interest expense mcreased by 56 .8 million in
1988 after a $3.3 million decline i 1987, Higher
mterest rares and an 1ncrease i average debt out-
standing along with the inrerest assodated with a
capiral Tease accounted for the increase in 1988,
Interest rares and average debr oursranding

dechned in 1987 from [986 levels.



The pre-rax gain on the sale of TIFCO in 1988
was $26.3 nullion. Offserung this gain, in part, was
aprovision of $10.9 mithon in connection with
adverse development for indemnttics grven on the
sale of Shand, Morthan & Company, Inc. and a
54.5 million provision tor estimated losses on the
pending divestirure of nwo simall operations.

in 1987, the Company recorded $24.1 milhon of
gins, before munornity meerese, relating, to sales off
real estate in the United Kingdom and Franceand a
S7.5 milhon gain on the sale of a Canadian insur-
ance broking subsidiy.

fn Noveniber 1986, the Company sertbed ars Jaw-
st agamst certain tormer auditors of Alexander
Howden Group, ple. As a resule legal and account-
ing costs associated with s suit and relaced mate-
ters declined to S1T.8 million in 1987 from $9.1
pulhon in 1986.

Iucone Taxes

Ihe Company’s cffective tav rates from conanng
operations were 43.5% 1 1988 and 1987 and
54.0% i 1986 compared to the UL, Stacvrory
rates of 34% . 40% and 46% tor 1988, 1987, and
1986. respectively,

Stare and local income taxes, amornzation of
goodwill, cortain expenses disalowed by starure
and losses of cerrmn subsidiaries for which no rax
benetic can currently be recogrrized account for the
higher effecrive rates, The Tax Retorm Act of 1986
had the ettecr of lowering the ULS. taxy provisions
1988 and 1987 duc to the reduced sirtutory rates.
Tir Y987 the etfeative tax rate was tavorably
mpacted due to the effect of capital gain rares on
the sales ot real estate and businesses.

in December 1987, SFAS No. 96, " Acconnnng
tor Income Taxes.”” was issued by the Finapcial
Accounting Standards Board. The more signsticant
clemenes of the Statement are the shife to the habil-
v method ot accounting tor incorme taxes whercby
deferred taves are adjusted currenty for rax rate
changes, as well as mistations on recognnon of

deferred rax assers, Assuming no change to the ear-
rent tax rate, the application of the provisions of
the Starement s expected 1o have a positive impact
on the Company i the vear of adoption. The
Company anncipates adopiing SFAS No. 96 for the
vear ending, December 31, 1990.

Discontirned Opernrtons

The Company has complered the divestitures of
the disconrinued ennnes which were held for sale
and is conoinuing wich the runott of the clam liabil-
itics for the remaming Adanta and Bermuda insar-
ANCe companties.

The 6.0 mulhon provision recorded in the fourth
quarter of 1988 reflects primanly the cstimarted net
cost of a remsarance agreenmient regarding, the
Atlanra and Bermuda insurance companies. The
agreement, which is subject to regulatory and other
approvals, wouldd provide $50.0 milhon of coverage
agamst the possibibity of tuture losses m excess of
CUITCNE TESCrVes

The additiomal provision in 1987 of $10.0 nullion
related primarily to the sale of Sphere Drake as
deseribed m Norte 2.

The 1986 provision resulted primarily from the
requirement to strengthen vnderwriting reserves
ard merease the allowance for doubttul remsurance
recoverables in the Adanta and Bermuda msurance
companics.

The Company believes the resenve for estimiaeed
loss on disposalis sutficient wo adeguateh provide
tor the estimared losses rhirough the penod of tun-
off or indemmticanon; however, there is ne assur-
ance tharadverse deviation may not oceur due to
the vanables inherent iy the esomation process,

Extaprdinary Ciedi

The extraordinry credits of $2.5 mithon i 1988,
$3.5 mithon in 1987 and $0.6 million in 1986 rep-
resent the tax benefies resulong from the utilization
of ner operating loss carrviorwards relating ro the
U.S. operations of Reed Stenhouse Companies
Limited.



Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has generared sufficient cash flow
from operations, supplemented by procecds from
asset dispositions and commeraal paper borrow-
gy, to finance its operating and capital expend:-
rures as well as to pav dividends, repurchase
common stock and fund the discontinued opera-
tions. Prenmiums held as fiduciary asses are
restricted for use by state and certain foreign juris-
dictions and are not avalable for rhe operating
needs of the Company,

In October 1988, the Company completed the
sale of TIFCO Inc. tor toral proceeds ot $73.8 mil-
fion, of which $7.0 million was received at closing,
The remaining proceeds include a payment of
$58.5 million, plus interest, which sas received In
January 1989 and was used to reduce commeraial
paper borrowings. The balance of $8.3 milhon,
plus interesr, 1s pavable i three installments from
1990 through 1992. As part of the transaction, two
real estate subsidiaries of TTFCO were transferred o
the Company at book value. Included in the net
assets af these subsidiaries was a $22.8 mulhon
direct financing lease receivable and related mort-
gage debr of $20.5 million.

In August 1988, the Company instrured 2 com-
mercial paper program for the private placement of
up to $100 million of commeraal paper notes, of
which $64.9 million was outstanding ar December
31, 1988. The Company can use the connmeraial
paper for gencral corporate purposcs, including
working capital needs, repurchases or redemptions
of securities, acquisitions and other capital expendi-
tures. The increase in average commercial paper in
1988 was due primarily to rhe repurchase of the
Company’s common stock and additions o prop-
erty and equipment.
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Effective June 30, 1988, the Company amended
its long-term credir agreement with a bank. The
amendment, which expires June 30, 1993,
mereased the Company’s credit faaliey trom $50
nulion to $100 nulhon under reoms which are gen-
crallv more faverable to the Company, In addivion,
a Canadian subsidiary entered into a three-vear
credit agreemen providing for a ceedin facility of up
ro Canadian $15.0 millon. Supplementing the
credit agreements, the Company has commitred
unseerrred lies of credit of $102.9 smlhon as sup-
port tor future cash needs.

In 1988 and 1987, the board of dirccrors autho-
rived the purchase of up to 5.0 mllion shares of the
Company’s common stock. As of December 31,
1988, 2 total ot 3.4 nullion shares had been repur-
chased at a cost of $74.9 mulion. In 1988, rhe State
ot Marvland enacted jepislation requiring Marvland
corporarions to rreat shares acquired ot irs own
stock as authorized but umssued shares. Previously,
such shares were treared as treasury stock by the
Company. For 1988, the cost of the Company’s
treasury shares has been allocated as a reducnion of
common stock and pad-mn capital, respectively,
This allocarion had no cffect on total stockholders’
CQily.

[n 1988, the Company remirted $4.3 million o
1ts Atlanta discontinued insurance company to
tund the runoft of claim habihties. Of the total esti-
mated premium for the reinsurance agreement dis-
cussed above, it is anticipated that approximarely
10 million will be funded by the Company in the
tirst halt of 1989 and the remaining amount will be
funded from the liquid assets of the Atlanta and
Bermuda companices.

The Company’s dividend policy is to pay divi-
dends our of current sustainable carmings. Whale
under Maryland law, dividends mav be paid from
unrestricted paid-in capital, the Company’s board
of directors has no present inrention of doing so.

The Company anticipates that cash flow from
operations, supplenmented by use of short-term
borrowings, will be sufficient to meer 1989 work-
ing capital needs.



REPORT OF M ANAGEMENT

Management of the Company is responsible for all the information and
represcentations contained in the consolidared financial starepienes and
other sections of the annual report. Managenient believes that the con-
solidated financial statements and relared informarion have been pre-
pared in accordance with generallv accepred accounting principles
appropnate in the arcumsrances. These fimancal statements necessarily
include amounts thar are based on management’s judgment and best
Cstimates.

The Company mamntains a svstem of internal accounting vontrols to
provide reasonable assurance thar assers are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorized use or disposinon and that accounting records provide a
reliable basis for rhe preparation ot financial statements. The internal
accounnng control svstem 1s augmented by an internal auditing program,
other written policics and guidehnes, including the Company’'s policy on
General Business Ethics, and caretul selecrion and tratning of qualified
personnel.

Deloitte Hasking + Sells has been engaged, with the approval of the
Company’s stockholders, as the independent auditors o audir the finan-
cial statements of the Company and to express an opimon thereon. Their
opinion is based on procedures believed by them to be sufficient to pro-
vide reasonable assurance that the finanaal starements present fairly, 1 all
material respects, the Company’s firanaal position, cash flows and
results of operations. Their report 1s set forth on Page 19.

The Audit Comnutree of the board of directors is composed of four
directors, none of whom is an emplovee of the Company or any of its
subsidiacies. Ir assists the board in exercising s fiducary responsimhicies
tor oversight of audit and related martters, including corporare account-
ing. reporting and control practices. It is responsible for recommending
ro the board rhe independent audirors to be emploved for the coming
vear, subject to stockholder approval. The Audic Conumitree meers peri-
odically with management, wnternal auditors and the independent auds-
tors to review internal accounting controls, auditing and financial
reporting matters. The independene auditors and the mteenal audirors
have free aceess to the Audit Committec,

T. H. Irvin
Chatrman of the Board

Presidene &
Chief Executive Officer

Rl E KL,

Paul E. Rohner
Sentor Vice Prestdent
& Chuef Einancial Officer

18



~ Aupitors’ REPORT

To The Sharcholders of Alexander & Alexander Services Ince.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Alex-
ander & Alexander Services Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31,
1988 and 1987, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash
flows and stockholders® equity tor each of the three vears in the period
ended December 31, 1988, These financial statements are the responsi-
bility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audirs.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepred audir-
ing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of matenial misstatement. An auditincludes
examiming, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
sures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting princaples used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall consohdated financial state-
ment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basts
for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in
all matenal respects, the financial position of the companies at December
31, 1988 and 1987, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for cach of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1988,
in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed under Accounting Changes and Restatements in Note 1
to the financial statements, cffecrive Janvary 1, 1988, the Company
changed the method of accounting for its internarional pension plans to
conform with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No.
87, and in 1988 restated the financial statements for prior years to con-
form its basis of consolidation with SFAS No. 94.

Dbl tockeiut bl
DELOITTE HASKINS + SELLS

Baltimore, Maryland
March 6, 1989
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Adexander o Alexander Sevvicey Ine.

For e tinve ser enided Decensbor 350 onr widlbens exeept pev dhare amisgonis

Operating revenues:

[nsurance services

Human resource managenienr consulting,
Orher

Operating expenses:
Salanies and benefies
Other

Opcrating income
Equity in unconsolidated operations {Note 4]

Other income (expenses):
[nvestment income
[urerest expense

Other (Note 4

Income from continuing operations before
income taxes and minoriry interest
Income raxes (Nore 5)

Income front continning operations before
minority inteeest
Minority interest

Income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations (Note 2)

Income beftore extraordinary credits
Extraordinary credits (Note 5)

Net income

Per share of common stock (Note 1)
Income from continuing aperations
Loss from discontinued operations
Income before extraordinary credits
Extraordinary credits

Nert meome

Cash dividends

Weighted average number of shares

See Notes to Fowgrcial Staomenes.
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$1,063.4

140.3
.. .240
1,227.7

681.7

. 423.8
1,105.5
1222

5.1

$1,037.6
121.0
24.7

11833

6717
3980
1,069.7
RRIEX:
11.6

7.6
(16.7)
. 262
R VR
142.3
L .62.0

$1,003.9
105.3
254

NN =R




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Alexander & Alexander Sevviers Inc
A:J&rtmbvrj_fl_(_rrr_ miliians)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashvand cash equivalents
Short-term mvestments
Accounts receivable (ner of allowance for doubiful accounts
of $24.5tn 1988 and $26.3 in 1987
Customer accollts
Orther

Toral current asseis

Property and equipnient—at cost:
Land and buildings {Note 7
Furniture and cgupnent

I easehold improvenionts

Less accumulated deprecianon and amornzanon
Property and cquupment ner

Other assets:
Equity in unconsolidated operations (Note 4;
Long-term notes and othwr receivables i Notes 2 and 4
Intangible assers inet of zccumulared amortizaton

ol S87 4 1988 and 570.7 10 1987
Orher (Nore 7}

LIABILIVIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current habtities:
Accounts pavabic
Shortr-term debi (Note 0t
Accrued compensation
Other pavables and acerued expenses
Total current liabibines

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt (Note 7)
Deferred income raxes (Note 3)
Other (Notes 2, 10 and 13)
Total long-term habilities
Commitments and contingent liabilitics (Notes 2.4, 11 and i2)
Stockholders’ equity (Nortes 7, 8 and 9}
Preferred srock, authorized 9.5 shares, $1 par value,
issucd and outstanding, none
Series A Junior Partiapating Preferred Stock, authonzed 0.5 shares;
ssued and ourstanding, none
Common stock. authorized 60.0 shares 81 par valuc:
ssucd and outstanding, 36.6 and 38.7 shares, respecrively
Class A common stock, authonzed 13.0 shares $.00001 par value,
ssued and outstanding 3.1 and 3.4 shares, respecnvely
Class C common stock, authorized 5.5 shares $1 par value;
issued and outstanding 0.7 and 0.8 shares, respecrively
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated translation adjustments

Less—Treasury stock, at cost, 0.9 shares (Note 8}
Toral stockholders” equity

See Notes to Financial Statements. 21

1988

$ 382,
192,

FRN

1,213.8
129,

1,918.4

o

36.
314.
105.
456.

(195,
2061

(PSR TN TR I SY R |
=

7.9

254.5
123.1
$2,635.2

$1,590.

'N-lhb;n

5
1
1.77

— oo T1 W
—

214.6
107.5
170.4
4925

36.6

0.7
284.7
66.9

. 17.3)
371.6

_37Le
$2,635.2

1987

5 3569
308.3

1.212.9
R
1.962.1

)
l
SRR e o

405 8
1604
245 .4

39.6
7201

246.4
96.2
52.661.8



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

Casu FLows

Alexander « Alexands Sorvices Ine
beutictlivipminin aued Decemiber 3L, pn mifiimg)
Cash provided (used) by:
Operating activities:
[ncome from continuing operanons
Adjustments to reconcle income from continuimg operations to
net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amornzation
Deferred incomee taves
Gans on disposition of subsidiaries and
other assets
Other
Changes i assets and labilines, net of eftects trom acquisitions
and dispositions:
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Accounts pavable
Other current hablities
Orther habilinies
et cash provided by operating activities before
discontunued operations and extraordinary items
Discontinued operations
Extraordnary iems
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipmient
Purchases of businesses (ner of cash acquired)
Proceeds from sales of subsidiaries and other assets (net of cash
sold)
Puarchases of investments
Sales/matunties of mvestments
Net cash provided {used) by investing acuivities
Financing activities:
Cash dividends
Addinons to debt
Repaviments of debr
Repurchase of commaon stock
Issuance of common stock

Net cash used by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate ¢changes on cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginming of vear

Cash and cash equivalents at end of vear

Supplementat cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for:
Enterest
Income taxes (Notes 2 and 3)
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Capiral lease
Notes recaved on dispositions of subsidaries
Common stock issued for business acquisitions and emplovee
bencetit plans

See Notes to Frnavicial Statengnis,
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_. o dos8 aesT _19se
$ 710 S 749§ 666
62.6 51.1 43.8

6.6 167 4.
(18.3) (29.3) (0.6
11.1 10.3 3.8

5.3 17.8 (119.6)

(4.5) (5.1) (3.4)
(34.7) (2.4) 196.1
(52.7) (51.8) 36.2
o134 o As 378
59.8 86.5 264.5

3.1 5.2 (45.9)
x5 35 Vo
L. 654 L92 _219.2
(72.2) (101.4) (59.6)
6.7) (16.6) (6.9)
19.3 57.6 12.7
(1,571.4) (1,078.7) (861.5)
16555 1,495 7813
. .245 104 (1340
(41.4) (42.3) (41.0)
468.9 354.7 421.3
(439.4) (327.6) (462.0)
(56.1) (18.8) -
b4 09 30
7.6y  (33.1) 787)

3.5 21.2 5.0

_ 3869 2632 2517
$ 3827 5 3569  $263.2
$ 237 S 184 $ 168
16.4 66.8 18.5

- 25.4 -

66.8 67.1 -
18.4 8.3 10.7



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

StockHOLDERS’ EquiTy
Alcarder o Alecander Seyvices Ine.
For the tinze vears ended Deconber 31, (i mr'@u) L e -1_9§3ﬁf‘" ] l‘)ﬁi____ . _]_95_(_)
Commeon stock:
Balance, beginning of vear $ 38.7 $ 354 S 325
Contrlbutcd toan LITIPIOVLC benefit plan, none, 0.2 and 0.2 shares,

respectively — 0.2 0.2
Issued for acquisitions, 0.2, 0.7 and 1.6 shares, respectively 0.2 6.7 1.6
Conversions of Class A and Class C shares into common stock., 0.3,

2.3 and 0.9 shares, respectively 0.3 2.3 0.9
Common stock purchased and revired, 0.6 sharey {0.6) — -
Treasury stock rettred (2.0) — —
Other T 0 02
Balance, end of vear $ 36.6 $ 38.7 § 354
Class A common stock:

Balance, beginning of vear % 0.0 5 0.0 S 0.0
Conversions mto common stock, 0.2, 1.6 and 0.6 shares, respectively = - =
Balance, end of vear S 0.0 5 00 $ 0.0
Class C common stock:

Balance, beginning of vear S 1.5 S 1.8
Conversions into commen stock. 0.1, 0.7 and 0.3 shares, respectively B ,@Z) ﬁé)
Balance, end of vear S 08 E 1.5

Paid-in capital:
Balance, beginnmg of vear

Contributed to an emplovee benefit plan — 4.8 6.0
Issued for acquisitions 4.6 0.6 9.1

Conversions into common stock {0.2) (1.6} 0.0)
Common stock purchased and renired (15.0) - -

Treasury stock retired (41.3) — —
Other 1.9 32 44
Balance, end of year $284.7 §334.7 $327.7
Retained earnings:

Balance, beginning of year $ 40.8 5 147 5 13.0
Net income 67.5 68.4 43.2

Dividends (41.4) (42.3) (41.0)
Other s e 41
Balance, end of year $ 66.9 5 40.8 $ 147
Accumulated translation adjustments:

Balance, beginning of year $ (8.1) $(54.9) ${72.1)
Foreign currency translation adjustments (8.2) 46.8 17.2
Balance, end of year ;$;_(_1“7__3) $ (8.)) $(54.9)
Treasury stock (Note 8):

Balance, beginning of vear ${17.5) 5 — 5 -
PUI’LhaSL of 1.8 and 1.0 shares, respectively (40.5) (18.8) —

Issued to an melos c¢ benefit plan, 0.1 and 0.1 shares . respecnvely 1.4 1.3 -

Issued for acquisitions, 0.7 shares 13.1 — -
@ther 0.2 — -

Treasury stock retired 433 - -
Balance, end of year 5 - S(17.5 S~

Sec Notes to Financial Statenwenty.
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NoTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{in nnilions, except por chare anonnts)

1. Significant Accounting Policies

Cosolidaiionr Uhe accompanang comohdared

Snancial statements melude she accounts of Alevan-

der & Alcvander Services Ineand iy majoriry-
ovned subsicharics. All egauticant intercompany
reansaciions and balapces between consohidated
subsdaries hyve been chminared.

Accenniogg € hanges and Resterewient: PHcatine
Jannvary 1, 1988, the Company adepred the prov-
sions of Starement of Finanaal Accounting Stand-
ards (SFAS) Noo 87, 7 hplovers Accounning tor
Pensions™ for s interpational pension plans, the
resutt of whivh was a reduction of pension expense
of 12 6 nuilion tor tie vear ended December 317,
1985 The Compary adopted SFAS No. 87 for s
domastic pension plans effecnve Junuary 1, 1983,

Lftecnve Decermber 310 1988 the Compan
adopted the provisons ot SFAS No. 94, Comol-
dation ot Al Majorins -Owned Subsidiares”” In
priot vears, the Company bad consohdared onh i
maority-ow ned subsidiaries w hich were cnpaged
primarty i msurance services and human resource
management consultng services. The effect of
including rhese previouslv nnconsohdated subad-
s i the accompanyving consohdared finanaal
SLHOTICNTY Was ot sigmﬁu ant and had no cHecr on
previows)v reported consohidared net incone ai
stockitolders cquity, As desarsbed i Note 4, the
Connpany sold TIFCO Tne s whollv-onned pre-
mun fnance subsidiary, in 1988 and Evanston
Services Tnc, a 32%-owned insurance underwriting,
substdiing i 1987, borh of w hich are presented on
the cquity basis in rhe accompanving consolidared
bnanciad starements as a result of ther divesnture
by the Company,

Iftecrive December 31, 1988, the Compam
adopted SFAS No. 95, U Statement of Cash
Flows” Under the provisions of SFAS No. 95, the
Company considers all lighly hgud mvestmenies
with matuntes of three months or less ar the time
oA purchase to be cash eguivalents.
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The accompanving consolidared tirancul srate-
ments and refared tootnote intormation have been
restated for all vears presented relaung ro the adop-
tonr of SEAS Nas. 94 and 95, Addimonaliv, cerrain
prioy vear antounts have been reclassitied wo con-
torm with the current vear presentation. These
nclde repornng fducin pnoesiment ircome and
amoriization of inrngible asets as components of
Phe
Company bedeves Uns presentanon nwre appropr -
arehy retledrs operating results by m;uchmg reveue

OPCTITING FEVCNes ANd Cupeises. respecimneh

with refated eapenses.

Foveign Cerveney Translation Asscts and Inbilities
denonunated in foreign currencies are translared at
current exchange rares. Operating resnirs are trans-
hited at average rates ()Fcn'h.lngc previaing durng,
the vear Unrealized gams or losses resulnng, from
translation, inchudmg rransactions which hedge a
forcign currency investment or jong-teerm e -
company anestent, are included as aseparire
component ol stockholders” cquury,

Forward eschange conrracts are purchased by the
Company to hedge the impact of currency fluctua-
tions atfearing operations of certain foreign subsid-
ries, Gains and losses on these conrracts are gener-
aliv recognized in the penod inwhich the applica-
be exvhange rates change. Ner foreign currency
rransacnion gains {ossesy. amounting to SO.7 nii-
hono $1.2 million and $(1.0; million for the vears
ended Decomber 31, TO88, T9RT and 1986, respec-
tivelv, are included in vhe determianon ot income
oM CONLNUING OPCrarions.

Propeviv and Deprecation The cost :)i'pz'opcrl_\'
and cquipmcnt s depreaated generally on thie
straight-fine merhod over the estimated usetud hoes
of the velated assers winch range up ro 40 veans ror
buildings and 10 vears for cgznpiient Leascholkd
UNPTOVENICNTs are c'Jpluli/.Cd and aimeortized over
the shorter of rie ife of the asser or the lease term,
Maintenance and repawr vosts are chargcd Lo opera-
oo w hen mcurred.

Ingargible Assets Intangible assers rest Iring trom
Leguisitions, principally expiration lists and good-
will, are amortized on the straight-line method
over periods not exceeding 17 and 40 vears, respec-
tively. The costs of noncompete agrecments are
amortized on the straight-line method over the
terms of the agreements. Amortizanon ot intang-



ble assers included in operating expenses amounted
to $15.6 million, $12.3 million and 511.8 million
for the years ended December 31, 1988, 1987 and
1986, respecrively.

Income Taxes Deferred income taxes are provided
on revenue and expense items recognized for finan-
cial accounung purposes in different pernods thin
for income tax purposcs, Incomie taxes are generally
not provided on undisrributed carnings of foruign
subsidiaries because thev are conssdered 1o be per-
manentiy invesred.

Fiducwry Fands - Premuums wilnel ate duc trom
wisureds are reported as assers of the Company and
as corresponding habilivies, net of comminsions, to
the msurance carriers. Premiums recened from
insureds bur not ver reomitted to the carricrs are
held as cash or investments in a iduciany capaciry
where required by regulation. Investnenr icanme
carned on fiduciary fuads incduded i operating res -
cnues amounted to $63.0 mithon, $61.3 mulbon
and $61.9 million for the vears ended December
31, 1988, 1987 and 1986, respectively.

Revenne Recopition. Commissions are recognized
generlly on the effecrive dare of the policies or the
biiling dare, whichever s iter. Any subsequent pre-
mium adjustments, sncluding policy cancellanons.
are recognized upon totification from rhe insur-
ance carriers. Contmgent comimissions, cominis-
sions on poheics billed and collecred dircethy by
msurance carriers are recognized when recenved.
Fees for services rendered are generally recognized
when carned.

Per Share Dara - Larnings per share are based on
the weighted average number of commaon shares
and thewr eccononmc cquivalents curstanding during
cach period and, if diiutve, shares issnable under
stock option plans or debenoure conversion nghts,
Dividends per share are based on the Company’s
common and ccononiie equmvalent shares oustand-
ngat cach record date.

2. Discontinued Operations

In March 1985, the Company discontinued the
insurance underwnung subsidianes acqqinred in
1982 as part of the Alexander Howden Group ple
(Alexander Howden) acquisition. Accordinglv, rhe

cstimated loss on disposal, which mcludes esu-
mated operatng results through disposal or runoft
and estimared reabzable values, is presented sepa-
ratclv from continuing operatons in the Consoli-
dated Statements of Income

The Company has complered the divesoitures of
the ennnies held for sale. Effeenve Janoarn 1, 1987,
the Company sold Sphere Prake Insurance Group
tSphivre Drake) tor approximarely §55.5 million.
michuding the sertlement of an intercompany bal-
ance of §24.2 midhon. To provade securin to the
buver i connecnion with certain indenminitics, on
December 30, 1987, the Company puichased a
pouinds stevhing 130 million zero coupon senior
note bearing interest at [0% and a pounds srerling
12.7 million zero coupon subordmared note bear-
g nterest at 2%, both due in 1995, Pavinent by
the buver of the notes 1s subject, etfectively, to off-
set based upon the adequacy of the loss reserves
and reinsurance recoverables recorded on the books
of Sphere Drake ar Decernber 31, 1986, These
notes are ncluded i the Company’s Consehdared
Balance Sheets at @ discounted value (pounds szer-
hing 19.3 mitheny of $34.6 million and $36.4 nul-
hon at December 31, 1988 and 1987 respectively.

The sale agreement provides mdemmities from
the Company tor various porennal liabilities of
Sphere Drake Certain indemnivies, which relate ro
operanons of Sphere Dirake prior to the sale, are
nor imited in ttme and amounr. Ocher mdem-
patics, which relare to Sphere Drake’s loss resernves
and reinsurance recoverables attoibutabic ro [986
and prior underwrinmg vears, are imited in tune
{expiring June 30, 1995} and amoun: up to the
value of the notes and related inrerest thercon. The
Company may be obligated, under certam circum-
stanses, to provide a credir facihiny 1o the buver
with respect to these fatter mdemmines. The Com-
pany will deter recognizing the related mreresy
imcone on these notes in the Consolidated State-
ments of income unnl realization is assured.

The remaining Atlanta and Bermuda disconnin-
ucd insurance comparies conrinue b a runof’
mode oFoperation. The Company s proceeding
with s plans te guidare or otherwise dispose of
THCsC OPCTatons.



Locs o Disposal The components of the esu-
mated loss on disposal and refared income rax pro-
vistons (benefis) arc as follows:

For dic weary rml:gl;l'i)n(».'ix'r.?f. __1988 ]9?7 1986
L'mited Stares $14.7y § (6.6) S(23.4)
International (2.0 2.3 (140
5(16.7) S:189 S(37.4
[ess: Income Tax Provision
(Benetit)
Frderal
Current § 05 S8 S (8%
Dicterred (5.5) 1.7 14
Iaternatnional
Current (5.7) (3.6} (2.3
Deferred = 2.2y (08
$60) 5100, 5240,

The Company is 1 the process of inalizing a
remsurance agreement, subject to regularory and
other approvals, to mdemmifv the Atlanta and Ber-
muda companies tor $50.0 milhon of coverage
agamnst the possibility of future losses in excess of
current reserves. The agreement also contains a
profit sharing provision which 1s anticipated to
cover future aperating expenses of the Atlanta and
Bermuda operations. The $6.0 nillion provision
recorded in the fourrh quarter of 1988 relates pri-
marily o the net estimated cost of this agreement.

In 1988, rthe Company received rax refunds from
the Infand Revenue i the United Kingdom
amouitting te $9.3 milhon, including interest. The
settlemment refates principally ro the agreement of
priot vears” losses and the tax deducnbility of cer-
tain ttems relating o Alexander Howden’s under-
writing aperations. These refunds have been
recorded as additions to the Company’s reserve tor
estinated foss on disposal.

The 1987 additional provision relates primarily to
the recorded loss on the disposal of Sphere Drake.
The additional provision in 1986 relates primarily
to the Arlanra and Bermuda companies and
resulted from the need to strengrhen insurance
undernvriting rescrves by approximateiy $21.0 mul-
lion and to increase the allowance tor doubdul rein-
surance recoverables by approximarely $10.0
mithon.
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Ner Liabilines of Disconginyed Operatons A sum-
mary ot the net habilities of the Company’s discon-
unued operations as of December 31, 1988 and
1987, 15 as follows:

1988 1987
Assets

Carhoand wivestmenss $ 733 S 692
Accounts recenvahle 43.3 44 8
Income taxes receivable trom parent 0.9 )
Orher assets _ 3.1 77‘1 I
Tastal 120.6 1 3(?:’

[aabilitics
Clam liabdbiries 109.2 102.8
Orher halmlicies 10.1 22.i’
olal 119.3 125.5
NCT A85€Ts 1.3 5.2

Reserve tor estimated loss o disposal {see
below)

Net abihiries of disconbinued operations

During 1988 and 1987, respectively, the Com-
pany remiceed appraoximately $6.3 million and
534 .4 milhon to the Atlanta insurance companies
represenang principally tax benetits trom prior
vears' losses. In addition, in 1988 and 1987, the
Company contribured $4.3 million and $7.8 mil-
lion, respectively, of additional capital to the
Athanta isurance companics and to a Bermuda
mstitrance company te fund the runoft of claim ha-
bilities. The net habilities of the Company’s discon-
tinued operations are inclrded m other long-term
labilities 1 the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

An analvsis of the Company’s reserve tor esti-
mared loss on disposal of its discontinued opera-
vons s as tollows:

1988 1987 1986

Ralance. beginming of vear $15.3 523 S 203
Provision recorded for

estimared loss on disposal 6.0 0.0 24.0

Opcrating mcome dloss ot
Compames hetd for sale - — 3.0

Companies being runoft’ {7.6) (4.4) (22.2)
Gain {loss) oo divestitures - (7 B} 1.2
UK. ax rehunds 9.3 - —
Other 0.3 56 (32

Balanee, end of vear $22.7 5153 5231}




While the reserve is based upen management’s
best judgment, there is ne assurance that further
adverse develepments may not occur duc to the
variables inherent in the estimation process.

3. Acquisitions

Poolings of Inverests The total number of shares
issucd in wansactions accounted for as poolings of
interesas aggregated 0.6 million and 1.5 million
dunng 1987 and 1986, respectively. There were no
peelings of interest in 1988,

Purchases The cost of businesses acquired by the
Cempany in transacuions accounted for as pur-
chases aggregated $25.4 million in 1988, including
9.2 millien shares of common stock; $24.8 million
in 1987, including €.1 million shares of common
steck; and $4.5 million in 1986, including 0.1 mil-
lien shares of common stock. The excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of net assets
acquired was approximately $25.1 million, $18.6
millien and $5.1 million, respectively, and is being
amertized over periods not exceeding 40 years.

The effect of these acquisitions was not significant
te the Company’s consolidated financial
siatcments.

4. Dispesitions

TIFC® Inc. In 1988, the Company sold its
whelly-ewned premium finance subsidary, TIFCO
Inc., fer precccds of $73.8 million. Of the total
precceds, $7.8 millien was received at closing and
$53.5 mulien, plus interest, was received in January
198%. The reraining balance of $8.3 million, plus
interest, is due in three installments from 1990 to
1992 and is cenmngent upen future premium
financing velume placed at TIFCO. A pre-tax gain
of $26.3 millien has been recogmzed on the sale
and is included in @ther Income (Expenses} in the
Censelidated Statements of Income.
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Summarized financial information relating to
TIFCO through the date of sale is as follows:

For the wars owded [ecember 31, 1988 1987 1986
Revenues $21.8 $31.8 S37.0
Expenses 16.7 222 23.4
Income belore taxes 5.1 9.6 13.6
Incoms raxes 1.7 4.2 6.4
Nerincome $34 $54 S72
Asof December 31, 1987
Ansets:
Cash and investments 5 (U.5)
Receivables 213.3
Other asscts 4.4
5217.2
Liabilitics and -E.quiry:
Accounts pavable $ 175
Notes pavable and long-term
debr 152.1
Other habihities 8.0
Equiry 39.6
$217.2

Shand, Morahan & Company, Inc.  In 1987 the
Company sold its domestic underwriting manage-
ment subsidiary, Shand Morahan & Company, Inc.
(Shand) for approximate book value of $62.8 mil-
lion. The proceeds included $11.0 mullion cash, net
of an intercompany balance of $19.5 million, and a
deferred pavment of $32.3 milhon plus interest due
in 1992. Of the total deferred payment, $29.3 mil-
lion is subject to offset based upon the adequacy of
the loss reserves and reinsurance recoverables
recorded, as of December 31, 1986, on the books
of Evanston Services Inc., a 52%-owned insurance
underwriting subsidiary of Shand at datc of sale. In
addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify
the purchasers of Shand against certain contingen-
cics, including the Mutual Fire, Marine and Inland
Insurance Company contingency described in
Norte 12.

Based upon audited year-end 1988 financial infor-
mation received from the purchasers of Shand, and
other information, the Company recorded 2 $10.9
million provision in the fourth quarter relating to



the indemnities given by the Company. The provi-
sion resulted from detenoration in loss reserves and
additional uncollecable reinsurance balances as well
as legal costs assoctated with detending the Com-
pany aganst other indemnified loss contingencdies.
As aresult of the adverse development relating to
the indemnities, the Company does not anticipate
realizing anv interest income on the contingent
deferred paymenr balance.

Summarized financial infermation relating to
Shand through the date of sale 15 as tollows:

For the wars ended December 31, 1987 1986
Revenues 523.1 §40 8
Expenses 260 344
Invome (Joss) before equine earnings and

INCOME raxes 2.9 6.4
Fgmry carmngs {Evanston) 2.0 34
Ineome (lossy belore inconmie taxes 0.9) 2.8
Lncone raves (1.2) 3.3
Nelmwome $03 $65

Other Assess Daring 1987 a whollv-owned
Urnited Kingdom subsidiary and a 50%-owned
French subsidiary sold their respective ofhice busld-
ings for cash of approximatcly $35.3 million. The
pre-tax gams, mcluded i Other Income
{Fxpenses), and the after-tax gains on these rransac-
tions were approximatelv $21.5 million and $16.9
mitlion, respectively.

5. Income Taxes
The components of income from continuing oper-
ations before income taxes are as follows:

ffrr e wears cndad Decernber 31, 1988 1987 1986
Unired States £ 748 5669 § 864
International 54.1 75.4 6l.8

51423  $148.2
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The components of the provision for income
taxes on continuing operations are as follows:

For Hre vears exded December 31, 1988 1987 1986
Current:
Federal $21.8 5122 3414
Stare and loca! 7.9 5.7 8.6
Internarional ) 19_8 27 4 26.0
49.5 3 760
Deterrea:
Federal 3.9 14 .4 1.7
State and local 0.2 0.2) (1.8)
International i Ag._S_ _Q 4.2
6.6 16.7 4.]
Total tax provision $36.1  $62.0 $80.1

The Company files a U.S. Federal consolidated
tax teturn which includes the losses of its U.S. dis-
conunued operations. The current federal provi-
sion recognizes the amounts pavable to the
discontinued operations for the tax benefits relating
to such losses.

The components of the deferred mcome rax pro-
viSIOn on continuing operations are as follows:

Fov thve yeary ended Decermber 31, 1988 1987 1986
Lxcess of tax over book

deprecation $18 s$22 5§ 31
Tax leases 2.8) (3.2) 1.6
Fimanctal accounning accruals, net (0.1} 0.4 {17.4)
Net deferred gans on subsidiary

dispositions 2.8 — —
Alexander Howden loss deduction

{See below) — — 4] .6
Netoperanng loss and other tay

credit carmvtorwards 4.2 17.4 (25.1)
Other 0.7 0.1 0.3

$6.6 Sl67 § 41

A reconciliation of the tax provision and the
amount coniputed by applving the U.S. Federal
income tax rate of 34% in 1988, 40% in 1987 and



46% in 1986 to invome from continuing operations
before inconie taxes is as follows:

For thie vears endttd Decomber 31 1988 1987 1986
Computed expected ™ tax

expehse 5438 3569 Sox2
State and local iIncome taxes ner of

tederal income tax 5.4 34 T
Foreign staturony mtes over

(under) U5, Federal statiton

rre 2.8 LN s
Benetit of incume taved at capinal

zans or other rates - 3.8 0.2
Subsidianes” losses recenng no

cumrent tax henefit 0.4 1.~ 2.0
Tax credins — Q.5 Y
Amortization of itangble ascrs 2.8 21 2a
Crther non-deductiole cxpenses 338 a7 +.2
Adjustment 10 prior e esinnared

tAX Provisions - 1.5 +.4
Other net {(2.% .4 2.8
Tortal tax provision 856.1 3620 $80.1

For the vears 1982, 1986 and 1987, rax dedue-
tions totaling S132.8 nullion, net of estimated
recoveries, were claimed by the Company for a loss
sustained 10 conpection with the acquisition of
Alexander Howden. The 561 1 mithion i tax bene-
firs associated wich these tax deductions are
reflected in the deferred income tas balances in rhe
Consolidared Balance Sheets and sall not be recog-
nized for income statement purposes vt realize
rion is reasonably assured. Durihg 1988, the
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) issuedats final Reve-
nue Agent's Report in connection with the vom-
piction of the audit of the Company’s 1982 ULS.
consolidated tax return. As anticipated, the JRS
disallowed the $43.1 milhon tax deduction which
was claimed in 1982. In addition, the IRS disal-
lowed a tax deduction for certain costs which the
Company incurred in its post-acquisition invesriga-
tion into Alexander Howden. The Company filed
15 protest against these rwo issucs with the Appel-
late Division of the IRS on December 30, 1988 It
is the Company’s opinion that the amounts not yet
recognized for income statement purposcs are suf-
ficient to cover any potenual liability arising our of
these 1ssucs.

In 1983 and 1984, $23.9 million 1n tax deduc-
tions were clamed by the Company in connection
with payments, to an unrelared third party, for an
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indemmibication poticy against the porential adverse
effects on the Company from losses arising out of
certain undenwvnnng exposures. The relaved rax
henetit of ST14 mallion was recognized in 1983, In
connection with the current examination of the
Company’s 1983 through 1985 income tax
returns, these tay deductions are ander review by
the IRS however, the Company belicves twill be
suceesstul in sustaining these deductions.

The extraordimare credits of S2.5 miflion m 1988,
$3.5 milhion in 1987 and 30.6 nuthon i 1986 rep-
resent the realivation of tax benefits resulting from
tiwe unhzation of approximartely $6.3 mallon, 587
milbon and $1.2 nullon, respecovely. of net oper-
ating Joss carrviorw ards attvibmable to the ULS
operatons of Reed Stenhouse Companies Linnted
prior to the merger m 19850 At December 34,
1988, the Company had. for financial reporning,
PUTPOses, & ner operating loss carmvionwvard relating
to these operanons of approximarely $4.4 mithon
which will expire m the vears 1996 1o 1998,

At December 31, 1988, the net undistrnbuted
carnmgs of foraign subsidiarics aggregated approxt-
marely ${93 8 million, Since these carmimgs are
considered permancintly invested, there 5 no provi-
ston tor addinonal LS income taxes which anght
resttlt upon distribunion of such carnings; however,
forcign tax wredies could be available o offset part
or ol of the U5 income taxes which would be
earred.

In December 1987, SFAS No. 96, “*Accounung
for Income Taxes,”” was sssued which will requare
the Company to adjust irs balance sheer habihinics to
the habitiny imethod of reporting instead of the
deferred method. Under this newldy preseribed
method, future tax lablites will be adjusted ina
current period to reflecr changes inmcome tax
rates. As a resulr of the complex implementation
issuces in applving the provisions of SFAS No. 96,
the ¢ffective date has been deferred to 1990, The
Company is continuing ta refine its analyses of the
impact of the new Statement; however, it is antic-
pated that its adeption will have 2 positive smpact
on the Company’s fimancial position in the vear of
adoption.



6. Short-Term Debt

Consolidated short-termy debr consses ot the

followime;
g

Avat { doonin i 1988 1987
Commeraal papa So4.9 5348
Norcs pasable te banke 210 B
Curpen pornon of org e debs i Nate 7 5.0 b2
0.9 66 2

Lo st tene delst reviasafiod e i()l‘.'t“-l('l m
Note - B39 500

S16 2

Intormanon swith respect 1o shorr-term borronas -
g activiy sas followe:

oS eceniier 3 1983 19R7 1986
Conuperoal pape:
Bl e at vear ond 5649 S348 599
WWerghted average wirerest rate 9.3% 8 3% [ o
Maxininm: ougstandmg 5649 500 5TH ]
Averque putstandiug, £51.2 L8247 540 9
Mejphted average mrerestate
duning thesear T9% O T T 3%

Notes pavabiv o banke

5210 s2002 8

Balanee ar vear end

Weighed average snteres mare 14.9% 8 2%
Maximuam ourstaudig £34.0 5211 SN ING]
Average ontsranding 8276 5 43 L L
Werghited herage interess rate

G UNe vea 9. 6% 3 8% 12 0%

The maxinam outstanding balance above reflects
the v amount of cach category outstand-
mg atany month end. The mavimum aggregate
short-tern debt ounstanding at any month cned s
S89 & million. $536.1 million. and $75. 1 milhonin
1988, 1987 and 1980, rexpeciively,

In Augusr 1988 the Company nusntured @ com-
meraal paper program for the private placement of
np to $100 nulhon of commercal paper notes. The
NOLes are unsecured obligations of the Company
and will be sold only to msttitional mvestors that
quahty asaceredited mvestors as detined in Regula-
non 1 of the Sceuritics Act of 1933

fnchading the $100 million credit facihn
doseribed in Nowe 7(B) the Company has commir-
ied nnsccured lines of eredie torahng $202.9 mil
hon ot which $163.5 milhon was unused as of
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December 310 1988, The hines may be drawn as
necded with inrerest ar market rates and caery an
annual commement fee ot no greater than 4% of
the hre Inaddinion. the Company has approv-

mateiv 8845 mithon of uncammitred bank hoes of

credht winich are mvalable tor general corporate pur-

poses, of windh $237.0 mitllion was unused at
Deceniber 3], 1988

7. Long-Term Debt
Consobdated Jong-term debr oursranding s as
follows.

'4'"1{)(‘,’,’””':’.‘; o ) 1238 B 198"
14 Corvernble subordinated
Jdebentores A S 676 670
RecTasshied shocttong debio s B3 R 9 a0 0
Pong zerm cedi agreanan (B 12.6 -
Obliganon nnder capital tease 10 20.7 254
Nereiccourse mor gige nores 1 25 RN
Oihoer ] [2.3 1.8
219.6 1814
P aurient portion Note 0, 5.0 11z
L2146 $1702

Fhe principal pornon of paviments required dur-
g the neat Ave vears s S5.00millen in 1989, 835
mithonin 1990, 8168 mallion my 1991 S3.8 -
Lo in 1992 and $5.5 nullion iy 1993,

A 1% Convertrhle Subovaiiated 1ebriitires
The debentures are unsecured subordimared obhgs
nons raturmg Aprid 15,2007 Fhe debentures
were msued in conecsion wirh the acquisition of
Alevander Iowden under an Indenture agreement
dated Febraare 101982 and are convertible mro
common shares at $39 per share, subject ro adysd
ment wider certaim condifions and o prior
redempuon The remaiming debosrures e
redecmable any tume. ar the Conipany = opnion, at
JO6.6% of par vajuc prioy to Apnt 15, 1989 and ar
declining poces thereafrerunol April 15, 1997,
Comnwencing Apnl 15, 1992, 5% of the aggregate
principal amount eutsianding as of Ocrober 15,
[991, must be redeemed at the principal amount
through the operation of a mandatory sinking,
tund.




B. Long-lerm Credic Agreements
The Company has a long-term credir agrecment
with a bank which expires in June 1993, The agrec-
ment, as amended cffective June 30, 1988,
increased the Company’s credit facility from $50 1o
100 mullion and contains vanous restricrions
incfuding himits on minunum nct worth, maximum
consolidated debt, minimum interest coverage and
minimum consohdated cash flow from continuing
operations. The Company has the option to select
domestic or Eurocurrency borrowings priced at a
spread over the appropnate index. The Company
has not borrowed under this agreement.

In the event short-term borrowings cannor be
made advantageously, the Company intends to use
this facility to refinance a portion of its short-term
borrowings on a long-term basis. Accordingly,
$85.9 million and £50.0 million of short-term debt
has been reclassified as long-term debr ar December
21, 1988 and 1987, respectively.

In addition, 1 1988 a Canzdian subsidiare
entered into a three-vear credir agreemenr wirh a
Canadian tinancial institution which expires in Mav
1991, The agreement provides for a credir facility of
up to Canadian $15.0 million under various bor-
rowing options with interest raees of cither /2%
below the Canadian prime rate {123/4% at Decem-
ber 31, 1988) or a1 bankers” acceptance rates,

C. Obligation Under Capital Lease
Effective December 31, 1987, a 50%-owned
French subsidnary entered into a lease agreement for
office facilities which is classified as a capiral lease.
Furure mimmum lease pavmient obligations are
approximatciy $2.0 militon for cach of the next five
years and an aggregare of $34.7 imillion thereatter,
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D, Non-Reconrse Mortgnge Notes
Under terms of the sale agreement of TTFCO (sec
Note 4), two wholly-owned real estare subsidiaries
ol TIFCO were transferred to the Company ar net
book value prior ro closing. The ner assets of these
subsidiaries, which are now included m the consoli-
dated finanaal starements, include principally an
nvestment i direct financing lease ol an oftice
building and related non-recourse mortgage notes.
‘The mortgage notes bear inrerest at rates berween
12.1% and 13.0% and ate pavable tn semi-asnual
installiments of $1.4 million {(including principal
and interest) through September, 2010

The components of the net investment in the
direct financing lease, included i Orher Assets in
the Consolidated Balance Sheer as of December
31, 1988, arc as follows:

Future muminmum lease pavients to be receivesd S 790
Ungaaranteed residual value aceruing 1o the benetit of
the Company 7.9
Less uneamed income 64,3y
Net nmestmoent i jease 522.0

Future minimum lease pavments to be recerved
arc approximately $2.5 nullion for each of the nexe
frve vears and an aggregate of $66.5 million
thereatter.



8. Commeon and Preferred Stock
Common Stock Tn conpecnion with the Reed
Stenhouse Companies Linnted (RSCmerger
1985, rhe Companmy msiied 2 new classes of voning,
cquiny securities. Class A and Class Cshares.waly
vonng nghts equal to the Company’s common
stock. Assodated with cach such share s a dividend
P Lnf.:, share issued by Canadian (RSC Class |
Share; ora Unired Kingdom (AAFE Dividend Share)
stibsidiary which pavs dividends m Canadian dollars
and Sterling, respectively, equinalent ro the dia-
dends pard on shares of common stock. Haolders of
these securines, thercfore, hold the cconomic
cguivalent of shares of common stock. Facl Class
A Share {rogerher wirh an RSC Class T Share) and
Class C Share {rogether with an AAER Dividend
Share' mav be eachanged atany rime tor a share of
commorn stock.

At Devember 31
mithon shares of common stock resenved for ssu-

FoR8, the Compun had 5.8

ance ander employee seeck oprion plans, 0.3 mil-
lion shares resen ed for contungent issuance uade
business purchase agreements, 1.7 million shares
veserved torssuance m the event of conversion of
the 1% convertible subordnared debentures and
3.8 milhon shares reserved for wssuance upon
redemprion or conversion of the Class A and Class
. conimon shares.

Dividend Restricoions No dividends may be
dechared and paid on the Company's common
stock unless an equivalent amount per share 1s
deciared and pasd on the cconomwe equivalent
shares. Accordingly, the Compamys .Ib\]ll’\ to pay
dinvidends s hmm d by the amovnts available to the
Caanadian and UK. .mhsndmrwa for such purposes
These amounrs approsimate Canadian $40.9 mil-
hon or $34.3 milhon, asaoing cartam solvency
tests are met under Canadian Law o and pounds ster-
Img 46.5 mitien or $83 3 milhion, respectively, a
December 31, 1988, In the evene sufbivient earn-

s are not availabic in Canada or the United King -

dom ro declare diadends, the Company’s fegal
structure allows 1t to make carmings or caparal avail-

abiein those countres to pav doadends,
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Preferred Stock and Relared Rgghes The Company’s
preferred stock can be assired in one or More serics
watl tull or ionted voting rights, with the nghts of
cach seres to be derermined by the board ot direc-
tors betore cach isstanae,

On June 11, 1987, the board of dircctor
adopted a resolution aurhorizing a series of prefer-
red stodk, Series A Tumor Dartcipating Dreferred
Stovk S1.00 par vatue per sivare,
At the same tme, a dvidend of ] preterred share
purchase rignr (Right) was declared tor cach out
standing share of common stock and cach common
stock cquaivalent. Fach subsequenthyissued share
will also carmv such a Righr. Each Right enritles the
holder thereof to buv one one-hundreth ot a Pre-
Ihe Rights wili
beconme evercisable onbvaf'a person ar group
acquires 20% or more of the € OMPAI s v onng

{Preterred Shares:,

terred Sharc ata price of $85.

sharcs or anneunces 4 tender or exchange ofler tor
30% or muore ot such vening shares. Iy tlu Compans
i osubeequentlv acginred LJLh Rughr will entiele i
holder to purchase, ar the then-corrent exercise
price, stock of the surviving company having a mar-
ket value of twice the exeraise price of cach Righr.
The Rights, which cxpire on July 6, 1997 are
redeemable by action of the board of directors prior
to becoming excrcisable ar a redemption price of
$.01 pur Righr

Treastoy Steck The board of divecrors has autho-
rized, subject ro certamn businesy and marker condi-
nons. the purchase of up to 5 million shares of the
Company's common stock. As of December 31,
1988, the rotal number of shares purchased was 3.4
miuhion at an average price of $21.62 per share.

In 1988, the State of Marvland enacted legisha
tion reqairing Marvland corporagons to riva
shares acquared of s ovwn srock as authonzed but
unissucd shares. Previoushe the cost of such shares
were treated and classified as treasurv stock by the
Company. For 1988, the cost of the Company’s
treasurs stock has been allocared as a reduction of
common stock and paid-in capital, respectively.
This allocarion had no effect to rotal stockholders’
Cyuiy



9. Stock Opticon and Incentive Plans

In 1988, the sharcholders approved rhe 1988
Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan {1988
Plan) which provides for the granting of up 10 3
million shares ot the Company’s common stock to
ofticers and key emplovees as stock options, includ-
ing incentive stack options and non-quahficd
options, stock appreciatton nighes, restocted stock
awards, performance share/unit awards and other
stock based awards.

Stock options may be granted under the 19838
Plan at a price not less than the fasr marker value of
the conumon stock on the date the oprion s
granted and, with respect toncennve stock
options, must be exercised not later than 10 years
from date of granr and, wirh respect 1o non-
qualificd options, must be exercised not larer than
10 vears and 1 dav from date of grant.

Stock apprecation rights mav be granted alone or
in conjunction with a stock option ar a price not
less than the fair marker value of the common stock
at date of grant. Upon exercisc of a stock appreca-
tion right, the participant will receive cash, com-
mon stock or a combination thercof cqual to the
excess of the marker value over the price of the
stock apprecation nght. Excreise of either the nght
or the stock oprion will result in the surrender of
the other.

Restricred stock awards may be granted which
limar the sale or transter of the shares unteil the
expitation of a speaitied time period. Such awards
are subject 1o forleiture if the participant docs not
remain in the employ of the Company throughour
the restricred time period. A maximum of 750,000
shares mav be 1ssued under the 1988 Plan. There
were 2,000 sharcs issued 1 1988,

Pertormance share/unit awards mav be granted
based upon certain performance criteria as deter-
mincd by the Compeisation Commitree of the
board of dircators. Upon achievement of the per-
tormance share/unit eniteria, the participans will
receive cash, commeon stock or a combination
thercot equal to the award. There were 121,600
pertormance share/umt awards made in 1988,

The Company's Long-Term Compensation Pro-
gram (1982 Prograny), adopred i 1982, was super-
ceded by the 1988 Plan desenbed above. The 1982
Program consisted of three independent plans pro-
viding tor stock options, performance bonus
awards and restricred stock awards, No stock
options were granted after December 31, 1988, and
0o awards were made after May 19, 1988 under
cither the performance bonus or restricted stock
plans.

Opiion transactions under al! programs were as
tollows:

Number Option Price
of Per Share
Shares Range
Ourstandug,
Januane 1, 1986 1175956 $17.06-832 88
Graneed 553.257 38.63
Excremsed (134.779) 17 06- 31,13
Cancelled {47.848; S
Uzstanding,
Dyecember 31, 1986 1.546.586  S17.753-S38.63
Granted 956.000 17.753- 25 38
Exerened {44,344 17.75- 24.50
Caneelled (513.240)

Cruesrandimg.
December 31, 1987 1941602  $1775-538.63
Granted 312,457 23.63- 1475
Exercised (20,317 17.75- 23.19
Cancelled [278.989:

Quistanding,
December 31, 1988 21534773 517.75-538.63
The number of oprions exercisable at December

31 were as follows:

1988 994,235
1987 863463
1986 Ta9 R8I



10. Employees’ Retirement Plans and Benefits
Pension Plans The Company has contributory and
non-contributory defined benefit pension plans
covering substantially all domestic and international
employees. The plans generally provide pension
benetits that are based on the employee’s vears of
service and compensation prior to retirement. In
general, it is the Company’s policy to fund these
plans consistent with laws and regulations of the
respective taxing junsdictions in which the Com-
pany operates. An overfunding exists in the United
States’ largest plan. As a result, the Company will
not make any contributions to this plan unal the
overfunding is substantially reduced.

Effccrive January 1, 1988, che Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 87, ““‘Employers Accounting for Pen-
ston” for its significant international pension plans.
The Company had adopted SFAS No. 87 for its
domestic plans in 1985. Total pension costs for
rhese plans for the years ended December 31, 1988,
1987 and 1986 is summarized as follows:

1988 1987 1986

Service cost £25.2 §153 5104
Interest cost 28.9 134 10.8
Actual retum on plan asscts (54.3) (109 (264
Net amaortization and defeeral 3.3 {13.8) 5.6
Net pension costs $31 35 40 5 04

Internarional pension expense totaled $16.1 mul-
lion in 1987 and $13.2 million in 1986.

The following table sets forth the funded status
and amounts recognized in the Company’s Consol-
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idated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1988 and
1987:

1988 1987
uU.s, International us,

Vested benchie

obligation $118.6 §122.3 §103.4
Accumulated benefit

obligarion $130.8 §1244 §115.3
rojeceed benehic

obligation $(172.2) 5(203.5) §(153.4)
I"lan assets at fair market

value 217.0 259.0 2001
Excess of plan assets

over projected benefie

obligation 44.8 55.5 16.7
Unrecognized net (gain)

loss (19.3) 4.1 (13.6)
Unrecognized prior

SCTVICE COst 4.7 - 31
Unrecognized net assets

bring amoentized over

16 vears (36.9 {52.6) (#).3)
(Accrued) prepaid

peRnsion cost $ (6.7 § 7.0 § @D
Assumed discount rate 9.5% 9.0-10.25% 9.5%
Assumed rate of

compensation increase 6.0% 6.0- 9.0 % 6.0%
LExpected rate of rerum

an plan assets 16.75% 10.5-11.0% 10.75%

At December 31, 1988 and 1987, approximately
63% and 56%, respectively, of plan assets are
invested in equity securities and 37% and 44%,
respectively, in cash equivalents or debt securnitics.

Thnft Plans The Company maintains thrift plans
for most U.S. and Canadian ¢employees. Under the
thaft plans, cligible employees may contribute
amounts through payroll deduction, supplemented
by Company contributions, for investments in vani-
ous funds cstablished by the plans. The cost of
these plans was $6.5 million, (including 0.1 million
sharcs of common stock valued at $1.4 million) in
1988, $6.7 million, (including 0.2 million shares of
common stock valued ar $6.0 million) in 1987, and
$7.3 million (including 0.2 million shares valued at
$6.2 million) in 1986.

Post-Retivesnent Benefits - Substantially all of the
Company’s U.S. emplovees may become cligible
for certain health care benefits up to age 65 and life
insurance benefies if they reach normal retirement
age while working for the Company. The cost of
providing these bencfits for renirees is not separable



trom the cost for active emplovees in the United
States. The total cost, which is recogmized as
expense when premiums or claims are pad, and
number of cmyplovees were as follows:

1988 1987 1986
Toral cost §28.2  524.2 520.8
Number of emplovees
(thousands):
Active 9.6 2.4 10.2
Retired 1.3 1.4 i3

Certain of the Company’s international subsidi-
ares have similar plans for their employees; how-
cver, most retirees are covered primanly by
governmental sponsored programs. As a result, the
cost to the Company for retired employees is not
significant tor these programs.

Deferved Compensation Plan  In 1985, the Com-
pany established a deferred compensation plan
which permitted certain of its kev officers and
emplovees to defer a portion of their incentive
compensation in cach of the succeeding four vears,
In 1986, the plan was amended to permit a single
clection to defer, in 1987, all remaining amounts
deferrable under the plan. The deferred compensa-
ton ts being accrued over the period of active
emplovment on a present value basis. To fiind these
plans, the Company has purchased whole-life insur-
ance on cach participant’s life. The Company’s
obligation under the plan, $10.7 million and $8.6
mitlion at December 31, 1988 and 1987, respec-
tvely, is included in Other Long-term Liabilines in
the Consolidared Balance Sheet.

11. Commitments
Lease Commitments The Company leases property
and equipment under non-canceliable operating
lease agreements which expire at vanous dates
through 2013.

Future minimum annual rentals under non-
wncellable leases are as follows:

Operatag
i.cases
1949 5 75.0
1990 69.3
1991 62.1
1992 58.2
1993 339

Thereairer

1ozl pmnimum lease pavmencs
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Rent expense for office space, which includes
property taxes and cerrain other costs, amounted to
$87.3 million, $82.8 million and $69.0 million for
the vears ended December 31, 1988, 1987 and
1986, respectively.

Ottrey Commiitments The Company has guaran-
teed certain borrowings and letters of credit and hag
otherwise agreed to reimburse the pavment of cer-
tain other asserred or unasserted habilitics of sub-
sidiartes. While these assurances and guaranrees
may expose the Company to financial conse-
quences, It 18 Management’s opuron that any
adverse cffects will not be material to the Compa-
nv’s financial condition.

12. Contingent Liabilities

Following the acquisinon of Alexander Howden in
January 1982, cerrain claims, relating primarily to
the placement of reinsurance by Alexander How-
den subsidiaries and questionable broking and
underwriting practices of former Alexander How-
den officials and others, were asserted. In particular,
claims have been asserted against the Company and
certain of its subsidiarics alleging, among other
things, that certamn of the Company’s subsidiaries
accepted, on behalf of certain insurance companies,
insurance or reinsurance at premium levels not
commensurate with the level of underwriring risks
assumed and retroceded or reinsured those risks
with finandially unsound reinsurance companics. In
two pending actions, plaintiffs seeck compensatory
and punitive damages toraling $69.0 million based
on treble damage claims under the Racketeer Influ-
enced and Corrupt Orgamizations Act (RICO).
Relared actions contain a variety of allegations and
seek treble damages. Management of the Company
behieves that there are valid defenses to all claims
thar have been made with respect to these activi-
tics. The Company is vigorousiy defending the
pending actions.



The Company and its subsidiaries are also subject
to various claims and lawsuits from both private
and governmental parties in the ordinary course of
business, consisting principally of alleged crrors and
onussions m connection with the placement of
insurance and in rendering consulting services. In
some of these cases, the remedices that may be
sought or damages claimed are subseantial, Addi-
tionally, the Company and its subsidiarics are sub-
ject to the risk of losses resulting from the potential
uncollectiblity of insurance and reinsurance bal-
ances and clains advances made on behalf of
clients.

Shand and its subsidiarics, prior to the 1987 sale,
placed insurance and reinsurance with and on
behalt ot the Mutual Fire, Marnce and Inland
Insurance Company (Mutual Fire). Mutual Fire
was placed in rehabilitation in December 1986. A
number of proposed plans of rehabilitation have
becn determined to be unworkable; the most
recent proposal was submitted to the rehabilitator
for review on January 31, 1989. It is not possible to
predict with certainty whether Mutual Fire will be
suceessfully rehabilitated or will eventually be
placed in fiquidation. In the event of a liquidation
of Mutual Fire, a liquidator may assert claims
agrainst Shand and its subsidiaries based upon,
among other matters, the amount of reinsurance
owed to or paid by Mutual Fire and the reimburse-
mient by Mutual Fire of claims payments advanced
on its behalf. Other claims have been or may be
asserted by other affected parties, including
insureds of Mutual Fire. The sales contract benween
the Company and Shand’s purchascrs provides an
indemnification to the purchasers with respect to
this contingency.

These contingent liabilitics involve significant
amounts, and while it is not possible to predict
with certainty the outcome of such contingent ha-
bilities, their coverage under the Company’s profes-
sional liability insurance policies, or their financial
impact on the Company, management presently
believes that such impact will not be material to the
Company’s financial condition.
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13. Litigation Settlement

In November 1986, the Company settled 1ts law-
suit, which commenced in 1983, against certain
former auditors of Alexander Howden. The terms
of the settdlement included the payment of $24.0
million to the Company. Recognition of this recov-
cry in the Consolidated Statements of Income has
been deferred pending final resolution of specitic
loss contingencies anising out of the Alexander
Howden acquisition which were known at the date
of the sertlement. The amount of the recovery 1s
included in Other Long-term Liabilities in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

In 1987, the Company’s after-tax contribution to
the settiement oftered to members of Lioyd’s syn-
dicares formerly managed by PCW Underwriting
Agencies Ltd. was charged against this recovery
and, accordingly, the amount deferred was reduced
to approximately $22 3 mithon.

14. Business Segments

Segment infotmation is provided for the Com-
pany’s two reportable segments, Insurance Services
and Human Resource Management Consulting.

Insurance Scrvices includes a broad range of
insurance brokerage services such as negotiating and
placing casualty, property and marine insurance,
reinsurance brokerage, risk analysis and manage-
ment, and self-insurance services.

Human Resource Management Consulting
includes a variety of human resource management
services such as actuanal and administrative services
for pension, compensartion and benefit plans,
employee communications consulting and manage-
ment consulting.

The following tables present information about
the Company’s operations by business segment and
geographical arcas for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 1988:



Operating, Operaring, Identifiable Depreciation Capital

Revenue Income Asscts & Amortizaion  Expenditures
1988
Insurance services 51,063 4 S131.3 $2,442.9 555.4 S 659
Human resource management consult:ng 140.3 14.1 115.4 4.7 6.4
Ocher business 24.0 2.4 62.6 1.6 0.8
Genenal corporate — (25.6) 143 0.9 0.5
$1,227.7 s122.2 $2,635.2 $62.6 $736
1987
Insurance services 51,037.6 St32.5 §2.415.5 $43.6 5119.7
Human resource managemens consulting 121.0 5.5 1209 3.4 11.5
Other business 24.7 1.7 64.8 1.4 2.2
Equity in unconsotidated operations - - 39.6 - -
General corporate — (26.1) 12.0 (L 1 l
$1,183.3 $113.6 $2,661.8 $61.1 $134.5
1986
Insurance services $1,003.9 $176.5 - 82,2414 $36.3 $ 488
Human resource management consulting 105.3 5.1 100.5 2.6 4.3
Other business 25.4 5.5 50.9 4.9 59
Equity in unconsohidated operations - — 55.1 -
General corporare — (23.7) 4.8 - —
Assets held for disposal — - 28.9 — -
$1,134.6 $163.4 $2,481.6 $43.8 $ 59.0
Operating Income Identifiable
Revenue Betore Taxes Assets
Geographical arcas:
1988
United States 3 7768 S108.5 $1,271.9
United Kingdom 202.7 32.0 773.6
Canada, principally RSC 1168 8.9 177.7
Other countrics 131.4 11.3 397.7
Equity in unconsolidated operations - 5.1 —
General corporare — {36.9) 14,3
$1,227.7 $128.9 $2,635.2
1987
United States § 7806 3 9.6 51,267.9
Unired Kingdom 180.5 28.1 735.3
Canada, principally RSC 121.4 18.3 190.6
Other countries 100.8 22.8 416.4
Equity in unconsolidated operations - 11.6 39.6
General corponate - {38.1) 12.0
£1,183.3 $142.3 $2,661.8
1986
United States § 763.0 f£112.1 $1,368.3
United Kingdom 162.9 22.9 558.1
Canada, principally RSC 119.7 20.6 195.3
Other countries 89.0 12.5 271.1
Equity in unconsolidated operarions - 17.0 55.1
General corporate —_ (36.9) 4.8
Asscts held for disposal - — 28.9
$1,134.6 $148.2 $2.481.6
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Quarterly operaring results for 1988 and 1987 are
summarized below (in mitlions. excepr per share
dara). The first three quarters of 1988 and all quar-
ters of 1987 have been restated from amounts pre-

viously reported to reflect the adoprion of SFAS
No. 94 and the reclassification of fiduciary invest-
ment income and amortization of intangble assets
as descnbed in Note 1.

Operating,

Income from

Operating

Continuing,

Quarners B ) Revenue - Income ~ Opcmﬂ.‘,’ﬂ{ Ner Income
t9RR
1st s 000 $ 29.6 §l6.5 $le.5
2nd 3129 36.3 201 2001
3rd 296.9 28.3 14.0 165
4th 479 280 20.4{a) 14.4(b)
Year $1,227.7 §122.2 §71.0 567.5
1987
1st § 284.3 $273 $14.4 514.4
2nd 309.7 359 27 9 27.9
K| 290.3 28.2 219 15.4
4rth 299.0 22.2 10.7 10.7
Voar S1.183.3 $115.6 5749 so8.4
Per Share of Comimon Stock
income from
Contimung
_Qu;lncrs Operations _Net [ncome Dhvidends High ~ Low
1988
Ist $ .3 5 .39 $ 25 $2417 5173
2nd 48 438 .25 2414 2115
3rd .34 40 .25 257 2154
41h 30 .35 25 28 231
Yean 5171 Sl,éé({) 31.09
1987
s $ .34 5 34 S .25 532 §2414
2nd 66 .66 .25 305/ 223y
3rd h2 36 .25 2734 2234
4th .25 25_ ) 284 15778
Year 51.77 51.62(c} $1.00
far Includes an $18.2 mithon gan on the sale of TIFCO, oflset in part, by $12.1 million in provisions relating, to the sale of Shand {see

Noe 4) and two small operations.
(b

HIsUTANCe companies (sec Note 2.
Notequal to the sum of the quarters.
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Inchudes a $6.0 milhon provision for discontinued operations relating to a reinsurance agreement regarding the Atlanta and Bermuda
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InvESTOR INFORMATION

Approxismate Nusmber of Equity
Security Holders

As of March 3, 1989, there
were approximately 3,364
record holders of the Compa-
ny’s common stock, 1,053
bencficial holders of Class A
common stock and 1,829
record holders of Class C
common stock.

Stock Listings

Alexander & Alexander’s
stock 1s isted on the New
York, London and Toronto
stock exchanges.

NYSE Symbal .. ..., AAL
London ........ (Common
and Class C)
Toronto . ... ., (RSC Special
Class 1)
Anticipated 1989 Dividend
Payment Dates

March 31 (paid), Junc 30,
September 29, December 29.

Norwee of Form 10K
A copy of the Company’s
1988 Annual Report on Form
10K may be sccured by wnt-
ing to:

Alexander & Alexander

Services Inc.

Corporate Sccretary

10461 Mill Run Circle

Owings Mills, Md. 21117

Investors, bankers, sccurity
analysts and others desiring
financial information should
contact:
Frank R. Wieczynski
(301) 363-5000

Transfer Agents and Registrars

Morgan Sharcholder
Services Trust Company

30 West Broadway

New York, N.Y. 10007-2192

The Equitable Trust
Company

100 South Charlcs St.

Baltimore, Md. 21201

The Royal Trust Company
48/50 Cannon St.

IL.ondon EC4N 61.1D
England

Montreal Trust Company
of Canada

66 Temperance St

Toronto, Ontario MoH 1Y7

Canada

40

Awuditors
Deloitee Haskins + Sells

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
Date: Thursday, May 18,
1989
Time: 9:30a.m.
Pace: The Equitable Center
Auditonum
787 Seventh Avenuc
between Wese S1st
and West 52nd Sts.
New York, N.Y. 10019

Corpovate Headgquarters
Alexander & Alexander

Services Inc,
1211 Avenue of the Americas
New York, N.Y. 10036
{212) 840-8500
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